
 
**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY** 
AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 December 2, 2024 

6:00 P.M. 
 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 
 
2.  Minutes for Approval   

Minutes of November 12, 2024 – Finance Committee Meeting  
   
 Presentations and Introductions  
 
 Unfinished Business 
 
 Reports of Council Committees  

      
a) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading  

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-49, an ordinance accepting the United States 
Department of Agriculture Community Forestry Initiative Reimbursement 
Grant in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for the City of 
Elkhart “Trees for the Hart” Initiative 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-51, an ordinance appropriating Sixty Thousand 
and 00\100 Dollars ($60,000.00) from the Elkhart Capital Outlay Fund for the 
replacement of the north roof of the Lerner Theatre 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-52, an ordinance annexing certain real estate 
generally described as 37.13 vacant acres on County Road 14 East of County 
Road 17 in Elkhart County, Indiana, and declaring the same to be a part of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-53, an ordinance annexing certain real estate 
commonly known as 2400 South Sixth Street, Elkhart, Indiana, and declaring 
the same to be a part of the City of Elkhart, Indiana 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-54, an ordinance appropriating Two Hundred 
Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00) and approving the acquisition of land 
adjacent to Ideal Beach by the Elkhart City Parks and Recreation Board 

 
b) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

There are no Ordinances or Resolutions referred to committees 
 
Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions  

       There are no tabled Ordinances or Resolutions 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3.       New Business 
 

a. Ordinances on First Reading 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-55, an ordinance of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, establishing the Elkhart Environmental Center Fund 
and the Elkhart Environmental Center Fee Schedule 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-56, an ordinance appropriating Four Hundred Ten 
Thousand and 00\100 Dollars ($410,000.00) from the ARP Coronavirus Local 
Fiscal Recovery Fund for the LaSalle, McKinley and Benham area water and 
sewer project 
 
Resolutions 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-59, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, amending Resolution R-45-22 to extend the 
Expiration Date of the Economic Revitalization Area granted to Marine 
Realty, LLC DBA Bennington Marine (North) 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-60, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, authorizing the City Controller to collaborate with 
the Indiana State Board of Accounts for the purpose of reconciling the city’s 
bank and internal cash accounts 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-61, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, declaring a certain area to be an Economic 
Revitalization Area for the purpose of granting Tax Phase-In benefits to 
Accra-Pac, Inc. DBA Voyant Beauty\NM VYT, LLC 
 

b. Vacation Hearings 
24-V-02 – Request made by the City of Elkhart Board of Public Works, City 
of Elkhart Wastewater Utility and the City of Elkhart 

       
c. Other New Business 

 
d. Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 
e. Neighborhood Association Report 

 
f. Privilege of the Floor 

                  Please limit your comments to 3 minutes to allow others time to comment 
 

g. Scheduling of Committee Meetings 
 
4.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of October 9, 2024 – Board of Public Safety 
 Minutes of November 6, 2024 – Board of Public Works 
 Minutes of August 8, 2024 – Board of Zoning Appeals 
 Minutes of September 19, 2024 – Elkhart Historic & Cultural Preservation Comm. 
 Minutes of October 9, 2024 – Lerner Theatre Board 
  
 Adjournment 

 



DRAFT 
 

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE ON NOVEMBER 12, 2024 

 

Present: Finance Committee Chairman Arvis Dawson 
Council Members Alex Holtz 

 
Absent:  Councilman Henke 
 
 Council President Dawson, Chairman of the Finance Committee, called the meeting to 
order at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart.  This 
meeting was made available to the public via WebEx. 
 
 The clerk called the roll. 
 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-45 
 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-45, AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE 
HUNDRED TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND AND 00\100 DOLLARS ($325,000.00) FROM 
THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE PROVISION 
OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES ACCOUNT TO UPGRADE THE AUDIO-VIDEO (AV) 
SYSTEM OF THE COMMON COUNCIL CHAMBERS AND OTHER 
IMPROVEMENTS 

 
Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. 
 

FINANCE COMMITTEE DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-45 

Chairman Dawson opened the committee discussion starting at 13 minutes and 42 seconds of the 
audio recording. 

James Gerald Director of Information Technology asked what questions the committee might 
have. Chairman Dawson replied give us a brief overview of what we are talking about with this 
ordinance. James Gerald said they are looking to expand the current system by adding some 
new equipment that helps them remain current with their vendors. It is going to increase some of 
the functionality that has been missing and lacking since COVID when the current system was 
put into place to help with online meetings. It will address some complaints including the 
Americans with Disabilities Act hereafter ADA that they have had through the years, including 
some of the hearing aids and visually the smaller monitors that we have on the walls. They are 
looking to make those bigger. This will allow them to get extra cameras in the chamber so they 
can see the council and put names under those that are speaking to help better engage with the 
audience. The public will know who is speaking without looking at the transcript. The biggest 
thing is automation. They are looking to do an automated mode and manual mode, this will allow 
some of the smaller commissions that do not need the manpower to be able to hit a button and go 
on with their meetings. Some of the larger meetings will have a manual mode where they can 



DRAFT 
control the cameras and the Information Technology hereafter IT department can run those 
meetings. This is to also prepare for new legislation that was passed in House Bill 1167, 
regarding the retention of meetings. 

Chairman Dawson asked when it comes to aesthetics of the council chamber, how much will 
change? James Gerald replied, as far as the ceiling and the walls, not much will change. They 
already have power and mounts on the walls so those screens will just be bigger. As far as the 
council desktop surface themselves they will be giving them a cut in screens so they can see right 
in front of them without having to strain to see the screens on the walls. They are proposing 
moving the IT personnel to the back of the room so they can better gauge the flow of the meeting 
and the video and audio, especially when there are microphone concerns. Chairman Dawson 
asked if they understood the back corner of the room has noise from the air conditioner and they 
have not been able to get rid of that noise. Will that affect them? James Gerald replied no it is 
all just running from there to the front and it will not affect any of the microphones. Chairman 
Dawson asked as far as the seats in the council chambers will those change? James Gerald 
replied the IT equipment will be in a roll-away desk that is lockable to protect the equipment and 
they may lose the back row seating that is currently on that side. Chairman Dawson said he was 
thinking more about the changing of the chairs as First Responders and others who have to wear 
equipment cannot fit comfortably in the chairs and the Council requests they have input on those 
types of strategic things that will help make the Council Chambers more accessible for the public 
and in regards to cosmetic changes, such as, carpet and those things that might deter from the 
beauty of the room. James Gerald said they put that in the bid specifications that the council and 
the administration would have final say on those factors. 

Committee discussion ends at 17 minutes and 30 seconds of the audio recording. 

Chairman Dawson asked for a motion on Proposed Ordinance 24-O-45.  Motion to approve 
made by Councilman Holtz, second by Chairman Dawson. 

By a unanimous voice vote, it was sent back to the full Council with a DO PASS 
RECOMMENDATION. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-46 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-46, AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING SEVENTY-FIVE 
THOUSAND AND 00\100 DOLLARS ($75,000.00) FROM THE CORONAVIRUS LOCAL 
FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE PROVISION OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES ACCOUNT 
TO COLLABORATE WITH THE ELKHART CHAMBER OF COMMERCE IN THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE BENHAM NEIGHBORHOOD PLAN 

Chairman Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. 
 

FINANCE COMMITTEE DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-46 

Chairman Dawson opened the committee discussion starting at 18 minutes and 17 seconds of the 
audio recording. 



DRAFT 
Mike Huber, Development Services Director, said this $75,000 in Automatic Reinvestment 
Plan hereafter ARP Dollars was inherited from the person who held this position previous to me. 
It was set up to help fund a South Central Neighborhood Plan. They are part of the Notre Dame 
Chamber Charrette for the minimum neighborhood planning process. They did not use the funds 
for the planning process, however, there will be an extensive implementation part of the process 
and they are just asking to appropriate those dollars from planning to implementation and to be 
able to use the funds to contract and partner with the Chamber to get that done. The City staff has 
multiple projects that they are juggling now and particularly they own Woodland Crossing and 
they are working through the redevelopment and build out of housing and new commercial in 
that space. They are managing a number of redevelopment projects in the South Main Street 
area, the River District and other parts of downtown. They have projects happening across the 
city. He thinks for perspective of our staff, having the Chamber in a position where they are 
actually facilitating and coordinating a lot of the Benham Avenue area, it is a huge priority for 
their organization. They will be at the table with them and partnering with them and they will 
meet with them regularly as all of these things go together. The Chamber cannot do the things 
that they can do without us so they are at the table but having them be in that leadership position 
does help them in terms of having their staff capacity be able to focus on the other priorities they 
have also. 

Councilman Holtz asked what date these funds had to be appropriated by and is there a spend-
by date? Jamie Arce, Controller replied the guidance that they have regarding the final use of 
the State Local Fiscal Recovery Funds are they have to be obligated in a formal fashion, which is 
just beyond this appropriation, before the end of the year and then spent for all intents and 
purposes by the end of 2026. There are certain circumstances that do not apply to them currently 
and they have a September 30, 2026 deadline. As of now, those provisions do not apply to them 
and the obligations especially in this case where they are dealing with the Chamber, the 
obligation is not for them to spend all $75,000 dollars of this request by the end of the year. It is 
to have it formally obligated and then they can spend it down between now and the end of the 
2026 if necessary. Mike Huber said they anticipate spending it by next year in 2025. Jamie 
Arce said this will align across all of the additional ARP appropriations so this is not unique to 
this one. 

Committee discussion ends at 22 minutes and 49 seconds of the audio recording. 

Chairman Dawson asked for a motion on Proposed Ordinance 24-O-46.  Motion to approve 
made by Councilman Holtz, second by Chairman Dawson. 

By a unanimous voice vote, it was sent back to the full Council with a DO PASS 
RECOMMENDATION. 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-47 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-47, AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE HUNDRED 
FIFTY THOUSAND AND 00\100 DOLLARS ($150,000.00) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS 
LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT 
TO FUND A COLLABORATION WITH THE INSTITUTE FOR ENTREPRENEURIAL 
COMMUNITIES 

FINANCE COMMITTEE DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-47 

Chairman Dawson opened the committee discussion starting at 23 minutes and 32 seconds of the 
audio recording. 

Mike Huber said this is a request to re-appropriate Ordinance No. 5883. They had requested and 
received approval for $90,000.00 Dollars toward a program called Emerging Manufacturing 
Collaborative Center hereafter EMC2, which was an Indiana Economic Development 
Corporation hereafter IEDC program. It was aimed at entrepreneurism and small business 
development. It was a program that came out of their Thrive Planning.  The state underwent 
significant turnover in the leadership specifically around this program, multiple rounds of it since 
he started two years ago. They had a working model in Indianapolis and they were looking at 
opportunities to branch this out. As Regional Economic Acceleration and Development Initiative 
hereafter READI2.0 became the primary thrust of the IEDC, this program was deemphasized at 
the state level and they became aware through the process that there may not be the level of state 
support that was originally identified as being part of the incentive for the city to provide the 
$90,000.00 toward this. At the same time, they have been somewhat engaged with a locally 
managed group called the Institute for Entrepreneurial Communities. It is an Elkhart based 
organization envisioned and advised by local civic leaders and successful entrepreneurs in 
Elkhart. Operations of the Institute are led by enFocus under the direction of Andrew Wiand, the 
President and the Institute is led by a board of local advisors including Liz Borger, Ryan Brady, 
Ashley Martin, Jack Smith Jr. and David Smith III.  These are all local people who are invested 
in helping Elkhart not just build on but also understand its reputation as an entrepreneurial hub in 
the United States. Also how do they leverage research and gather more information about other 
entrepreneurial hubs around the country? How do they learn from that and how do they 
understand how they can continue to reinvent themselves? A number of facets and a lot of 
specifics to the research program are identified and outlined in the attached proposal. Research 
by these world class research institutes is really the main benefit that they feel the City will get 
out of their investment in this institute. They are going to look hard at what Elkhart has done and 
why Elkhart is special and they are going to research other communities. They are going to 
research the value of quality of place and quality of life and how that impacts entrepreneurism 
and entrepreneurial success. They are going to look at how other communities have had clusters 
grow, and they hope to be able to use the research to understand and feel the benefits of the 
investments they are currently making in quality of place. How they can shape those investments 
in the future so that they can maximize and identify their future industrial clusters that they might 
have opportunities. They have gone through band instruments, through pharmaceuticals to RV’s. 
What are their future cluster opportunities? They are still focused around manufacturing, but can 
they break out of manufacturing into new opportunities to move into additional clusters beyond 



DRAFT 
that. From an economic development standpoint, how can they leverage investments in this 
research for themselves to be smart but also intentional in how they go about and build that 
entrepreneurial cluster?  How to celebrate their history of entrepreneurism nationally and build 
that reputation of their community as a place where talent wants to move to make their life better 
and have entrepreneurial success in this community. 

Committee discussion ends at 27 minutes and 28 seconds of the audio recording. 

Chairman Dawson asked for a motion on Proposed Ordinance 24-O-47.  Motion to approve 
made by Councilman Holtz, second by Chairman Dawson.

By a unanimous voice vote, it was sent back to the full Council with a DO PASS 
RECOMMENDATION. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-48 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-48, AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION FIVE 
HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 00\100 DOLLARS ($1,500,000.00) FROM THE ARP 
CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE PROVISION OF 
GOVERNMENT SERVICES ACCOUNT TO UPGRADE THE HEATING, VENTILATION, AND 
AIR CONDITIONING (HVAC) SYSTEM OF CITY HALL 

FINANCE COMMITTEE DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-48 

Chairman Dawson opened the committee discussion starting at 28 minutes and 20 seconds of the 
audio recording. 

Bradley Tracy, Chief of Staff Mayor’s Office said over a year ago they started discussions 
about the need to update the heating and cooling system throughout City Hall. At that time they 
had different groups come in analyze the situation to understand what they could and what they 
could not do.  They are ready to make a request for proposal. They have all of the specs and they 
are going to do three different proposals with three different levels based on the amount of 
money they are asking for and where they feel confident they can get it done for that price. The 
system as a whole has not been updated. They have updated in sections and some things have 
been adjusted and changed but the entire system needs updated because some of the thermostats 
control rooms where 10 people sit and the same thermostat might control a room where 75 
people sit and they cannot control both rooms equally. They feel confident that it is needed and 
they did extensive research in every space of this facility and what the requirements are for each 
space, so they are asking for the ability to move forward on this project. 

Chairman Dawson asked how much disruption it is going to cause in City Hall with redoing the 
Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning hereafter HVAC system? Bradley Tracy said no one 
will have to vacate their office and everyone will be able to continue their work. There will be 
people working on things in various offices but there will be no need to close any of the 
departments. 

 



DRAFT 
 

Chairman Dawson asked for a motion on Proposed Ordinance 24-O-48.  Motion to approve 
made by Councilman Holtz, second by Chairman Dawson

By a unanimous voice vote, it was sent back to the full Council with a DO PASS 
RECOMMENDATION. 

Bradley Tracy then spoke about the carpet, chairs and other items in the Council Chambers and 
said the Council will be consulted before any decisions are made. 

James Gerald said they put in their specs that they work around the current schedules so that it 
does not disrupt the Council meetings or hopefully any meetings. If they rip up the carpet and do 
the channeling they are going to try to design that on a weekend or something to minimize 
disruption. Chairman Dawson replied if it interrupts it is ok as what they are doing is very 
important and to just give them a heads up so they make it work.  James Gerald said once it is 
awarded, they plan to look at the calendars to figure out the best spots and time to do the critical 
mass of the work. 

Chairman Dawson said having no other business, the Finance Committee is adjourned.  

The meeting was adjourned at 33 minutes and 36 seconds of the audio recording. 

 
 
 
 

      _____________________________________ 
      Arvis L. Dawson, Chairman of Finance Committee 



1717 E. Lusher Avenue, Elkhart, IN 46516  •  (574) 293-5070  •  EECmail@coei.org  •   www.elkhartindiana.org 

MEMORANDUM 
Date October 31, 2024 

To City of Elkhart Common Council 

From Jeff Zavatsky, Elkhart Environmental Center, Director 

Re Grant Agreement between American Forest and City of Elkhart for Inflation Reduction Act 
Urban and Community Forestry Initiative 

The City of Elkhart was awarded $1,000,000 through the Inflation Reduction Act Urban and 
Community Forestry Initiative by the USDA and passed through American Forest 
(subaward).  The initiative for the City of Elkhart is titled “Trees for the Hart”.  The benefits 
of trees in the urban setting has long been explained.  From providing shade and reducing 
heat temperatures, increasing the value of homes and property, and absorbing excess water 
and reducing runoff and flooding.  Much like the state of Indiana, Elkhart has a deficit in our tree 
canopy leading to heat islands with elevated high heat days increasing by 300% by 2050. Much of 
the land in our disadvantaged communities is adjacent to a water ways which could be affected by 
flooding.  Elkhart has also been challenged with many issues regarding invasive trees and with a 
large percentage of our Ash trees falling due to the Emerald Ash Borer epidemic. The 
compounding of the flooding, the Ash borer epidemic, and the lack of being able to work over the 
pandemic has hindered a forestry department that was already challenged to meet the basic needs 
of tree care throughout the city to keep what we have maintained.  The goals of this grant is: 

1. Plant over 2000 Trees in public right-away

2. Promote and Educate over the importance and benefits of trees

3. Conduct a city wide tree inventory and Urban Tree Canopy Assessment

4. Hire outside contractors to assist the Forestry Dept.

5. Implement new Forestry Software for the City and Public Use

This grant is a “no-match” grant providing the work will be done in Disadvantaged Area 
Communities (DAC) and all expenses listed in the grant will be reimbursed.  Because the 
majority of Elkhart falls into the guidelines of DACs, all districts qualify for tree plantings. 
We will begin and focusing the plantings in districts and neighborhoods that have a high 
score for lack of urban tree cover.  The grant is in partnership with the Elkhart 
Environmental Center, Elkhart Parks and Recreation, Building and Grounds, Planning 
Department, Streets Department, Public Works, and Community Outreach.  We are seeking 
permission for Jamie Arce, City Controller to execute this agreement. 

Jeffrey Zavatsky, Director  

Elkhart Environmental Center 



Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-49 

ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
AGRICULTURE COMMUNITY FORESTRY INITIATIVE REIMBURSEMENT GRANT 

IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) FOR THE CITY OF 
ELKHART “TREES FOR THE HART” INITIATIVE 

__________________________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) appropriated funding 

through the Inflation Reduction Act, Urban and Community Forestry Initiative to increase the 

urban tree canopy in communities throughout the United States; and  

WHEREAS, USDA awarded the City of Elkhart a “match-free” reimbursement grant of 

one million dollars ($1,000,000.00), under the Inflation Reduction Act Urban and Community 

Forestry Initiative for the City of Elkhart’s “Tree for the Hart” initiative; and  

WHEREAS, in accordance with the USDA Urban and Community Forestry 

Initiative, expenditures by the City of Elkhart, up to one million dollars ($1,000,000.00 , will be 

reimbursed by the USDA, for city efforts to assist in the implementation of the program goals, 

including:  1. Plant over 2,000 trees in public right-away;

2. Promote and educate over the importance and benefits of trees;

3. Conduct a citywide tree inventory and urban tree canopy assessment;

4. Hire outside contractors to assist the USDA Forestry Service; and

5. Implement new Forestry Service software for the City’s and public’s use.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 



Page 2 of 3 
 

Section 1. The U.S. Department of Agriculture grant to the City of Elkhart, Indiana, for the 

“Tree for the Hart” initiative program, in the amount of one million dollars ($1,000,000.00), be, 

and hereby is, accepted and appropriated for use in the implementation of the program goals, 

including: 

a. Planting over 2,000 trees in public right-away; 

b. Promoting and educating over the importance and benefits of trees; 

c. Conducting a citywide tree inventory and urban tree canopy assessment; 

d. Hiring outside contractors to assist the USDA Forestry Service; and 

e. Implementing new Forestry Service software for the City’s and public’s use. 

Section 2. The Mayor and City Controller, or their designees, are authorized to execute 

such forms, necessary and proper to accept and participate in the program. 

Section 3. The USDA Community Forestry Fund is established and the City Controller 

directed to designate a fund number, appropriate to the reimbursement grant. 

Section 4.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor, as provided by law, and shall continue into successive years, 

without further appropriation, provided the project is ongoing and the appropriation total has not 

been exceeded. 

Section 5. The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, ______, 

at 6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

  



Page 3 of 3 
 

SO ORDAINED this             day of                   ,     . 
 
 
          
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this   day of    ,  , at_________ 

a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 





Page 1 of 2 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-51 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING SIXTY THOUSAND AND 00\100 DOLLARS 
($60,000.00) FROM THE ELKHART CAPITAL OUTLAY FUND FOR THE 
REPLACEMENT OF THE NORTH ROOF OF THE LERNER THEATER 

___________________________________ 

WHEREAS, Lerner Theatre north roof, over the Crystal Ballroom, has experienced 

periods of leak and repair, in the years since the Lerner’s major renovation; and  

WHEREAS, although such occurrences are not uncommon in the lifespan of large flat 

roofs, the leak and repair cycle progressed to the point in which the roof and some portions of the 

substrate are in need of replacement; and 

WHEREAS, the estimated cost to inspect, engineer, and design the scope of work and 

specifications for replacement of the Lerner Theatre’s north roof is estimated to be Sixty Thousand 

Dollars ($60,000.00); and  

WHEREAS, the Administration requests that the Common Council of the City of Elkhart 

appropriate the sum of Sixty Thousand Dollars ($60,000.00) from the Elkhart Capital Outlay Fund 

to fund such costs of the project; and  

WHEREAS, the Elkhart Capital Outlay Fund contains funds sufficient and appropriate for 

the project; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1.  The amount of Sixty Thousand Dollars ($60,000.00) be, and hereby is, 

appropriated from the Elkhart Capital Outlay Fund and assigned to the following account line:  

Account No. 4650-5-000-4310400  Professional Services   $60,000.00 



Page 2 of 2 

 Section 2.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, _____, at 

6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 

 Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law.  

 
 
SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this  day of    ,    

at_________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 





Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-52 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE GENERALLY DESCRIBED 
AS 37.13 VACANT ACRES ON COUNTY ROAD 14 EAST OF COUNTY ROAD 17 IN 
ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, AND DECLARING THE SAME TO BE A PART OF 

THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

        

 
WHEREAS, all of the owners of the real property generally described as 37.13 Vacant 

Acres on County Road 14 East of County Road 17 in Elkhart County, Indiana, have petitioned the 

City of Elkhart to annex said property into the corporate limits of the City of Elkhart; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart desires to annex said property 

known into the corporate limits of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (hereinafter referred to as “City”); 

and 

WHEREAS, at least one-eighth (1/8) of the aggregate external boundaries of the real estate, 

as more fully described herein, are contiguous to the corporate boundaries of the City and thereby 

satisfy the contiguity requirements of law; and  

WHEREAS, the real property currently has an Elkhart County zoning designation of A-1, 

Agriculture District; and



WHEREAS, the petitioner requests that the Common Council zone the real property M-2, 

General Manufacturing District, upon being annexed into the City of Elkhart which is supported 

by the Elkhart City Plan Commission and the Elkhart Planning Department. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. The following described real estate in Elkhart County, Indiana is hereby 

annexed into and declared to be a part of the City of Elkhart, Indiana; to-wit: 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  
A PART OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 
6 EAST, JEFFERSON TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, BEING THAT 37.13 
ACRE TRACT OF LAND SHOWN ON THE PLAT OF A CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY, 
CERTIFIED BY JEFFREY S. BARNES PS #LS20200084 ON JUNE 13, 2023 AS THE 
JONES PETRIE RAFINSKI (JPR) PROJECT NUMBER 2023-0103 (ALL REFERENCES TO 
MONUMENTS AND COURSES HEREIN ARE AS SHOWN ON SAID PLAT OF SURVEY) 
AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
 
BEGINNING AT A HARRISON MONUMENT MARKING THE SOUTH QUARTER CORNER 
OF SAID SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 13 MINUTES 6 SECONDS WEST, SAID 
BEARING BEING THE BASIS OF BEARING OF THE DESCRIPTION WITH ALL OTHER 
BEARINGS HEREIN RELATIVE THERETO, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 
855.28 FEET TO THE CENTERLINE OF PINE CREEK; THENCE ALONG THE 
CENTERLINE OF SAID CREEK THE FOLLOWING 7 COURSES (1) NORTH 0 DEGREES 
46 MINUTES 54 SECONDS WEST 317.92 FEET; (2) NORTH 12 DEGREES 49 MINUTES 
20 SECONDS WEST 132.76 FEET; (3) NORTH 15 DEGREES 11 MINUTES 10 SECONDS 
WEST 446.73 FEET; (4) NORTH 18 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 3 SECONDS WEST 176.96 
FEET; (5) NORTH 13 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 39 SECONDS WEST 197.01 FEET; (6) 
NORTH 20 DEGREES 26 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST 308.64 FEET; (7) NORTH 15 
DEGREES 50 MINUTES 51 SECONDS WEST 79.11 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF DEED 
RECORD 2019-04038, ELKHART COUNTY RECORDER; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 
5 MINUTES 40 SECONDS EAST 1,244.53 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE TO THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF, PASSING THROUGH A CAPPED REBAR (SCHNAARS) 
THAT IS 0.20 FEET WEST OF SAID CORNER TO THE NORTH-SOUTH CENTERLINE OF 
SAID SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 13 MINUTES 34 SECONDS WEST 
1,611.05 FEET ALONG SAID CENTERLINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
CONTAINING 37.13 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.  
 
 



Section 2.  Once annexed into the City, the Zoning Map created pursuant to and 

incorporated into Ordinance No. 4370 of the City of Elkhart, as amended, (“Zoning Ordinance”) 

shall show the real estate described in Section 1 as zoned M-2, General Manufacturing District.  

The real estate shall be subject to all applicable requirements of the Zoning Ordinance, as amended, 

as well as all other applicable ordinances and regulations of the City of Elkhart. 

Section 3. The real estate described in Section 1 is assigned to the Four (4) 

Councilmanic District. 

Section 4. Pursuant to I.C. 36-4-3-5.1, a public hearing to consider this proposed 

annexation will be held at the regular Council meeting set for the _______ day of 

____________________, ________, at 6:00 p.m. 

Section 5. That this Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the final 

publication thereof, in the absence of an appeal, as provided at I.C. 36-4-3-5.1 and I.C 36-4-3-

15.5. 

 
[Signature pages follow] 

  



ORDAINED this _______ day of _________________, ______. 
 
     ______________________________________ 
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 

 
ATTEST: 

 
By: ___________________________________ 
 Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, on this _____ 
day of ________________, ______, personally appeared Arvis Dawson in his capacity as 
President of the Elkhart Common Council and Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City 
Clerk and acknowledged the execution of the foregoing Ordinance No. _________ as the duly 
authorized act of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana for the purposes stated 
therein.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 
 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
 

SEAL 



PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at  
  a.m./p.m. 
 
 
     _______________________________________ 
     Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
  

APPROVED by me this ____ day of _______________________, ______. 
 
 
     _________________________________________ 
     Rod Roberson, Mayor of the City of Elkhart 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk  
 

 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, on this _____ 
day of ________________, ______, personally appeared Rod Roberson in his capacity as Elkhart 
City Mayor and Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City Clerk and acknowledged the 
execution of the foregoing Ordinance No. ______ as the duly authorized act of the Mayor of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana for the purposes stated therein.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 
 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
EXECUTED AND DELIVERED in my 
presence: 
 
___________________________  
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 

SEAL 



 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, personally 
appeared Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City Clerk, who being personally known to 
me as the Elkhart City Clerk, and whose name is subscribed as a witness to the foregoing 
instrument, being duly sworn by me, deposes and says that the foregoing instrument was executed 
and delivered by Arvis Dawson, as President of the Elkhart Common Council and Rod Roberson, 
as Mayor of the City of Elkhart, in the above-named subscribing witness’s presence, and that the 
above-named subscribing witness is a disinterested person as defined by law.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
 

 

This document was prepared by John M. Espar, Attorney No. 20758-46, as Corporation Counsel 
for the City of Elkhart, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana 46516. I affirm, under the penalties 
for perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each Social Security number in this 
document, unless required by law.  John M. Espar
 

SEAL 

























Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-53 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO.     

 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE COMMONLY KNOWN AS 
2400 SOUTH SIXTH STREET, ELKHART, INDIANA, AND DECLARING THE SAME 

TO BE A PART OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

        

 
WHEREAS, all of the owners of the real property commonly known as 2400 South Sixth 

Street, Elkhart, IN 46517, have petitioned the City of Elkhart to annex said property into the 

corporate limits of the City of Elkhart; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart desires to annex said property 

known into the corporate limits of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (hereinafter referred to as “City”); 

and 

WHEREAS, at least one-eighth (1/8) of the aggregate external boundaries of the real estate, 

as more fully described herein, are contiguous to the corporate boundaries of the City and thereby 

satisfy the contiguity requirements of law; and  

WHEREAS, the real property currently has an Elkhart County zoning designation of R-1, 

One Family Dwelling District; and 

WHEREAS, the petitioner requests that the Common Council zone the real property R-1, 

One Family Dwelling District, upon being annexed into the City of Elkhart which is supported by 

the Elkhart City Plan Commission and the Elkhart Planning Department. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 



Section 1. The real property situated in Elkhart County, Indiana, and legally described 

below, is hereby annexed into and declared to be a part of the City of Elkhart, Indiana; to-wit: 

Section 2.  Once annexed into the City, the Zoning Map created pursuant to and 

incorporated into Ordinance No. 4370 of the City of Elkhart, as amended, (“Zoning Ordinance”) 

shall show the real estate described in Section 1 as zoned R-1, One Family Dwelling District.  The 

real estate shall be subject to all applicable requirements of the Zoning Ordinance, as amended, as 

well as all other applicable ordinances and regulations of the City of Elkhart. 

Section 3. The real estate described in Section 1 is assigned to the Fifth (5) 

Councilmanic District. 

Section 4. Pursuant to I.C. 36-4-3-5.1, a public hearing to consider this proposed 

annexation will be held at the regular Council meeting set for the _______ day of 

____________________, ________, at 6:00 p.m. 

Section 5. That this Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the final 

publication thereof, in the absence of an appeal, as provided at I.C. 36-4-3-5.1 and I.C 36-4-3-

15.5. 

 
[Signature pages follow] 

  

LOT NUMBER ONE (1) AS THE SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED ON THE 

RECORDED PLAT OF WEST VIEW PARK, A SUBDIVISION IN CONCORD TOWNSHIP, 

SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 205 OF THE RECORDS IN THE 

OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA.  



ORDAINED this _______ day of _________________, ______. 
 
     ______________________________________ 
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 

 
ATTEST: 

 
By: ___________________________________ 
 Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, on this _____ 
day of ________________, ______, personally appeared Arvis Dawson in his capacity as 
President of the Elkhart Common Council and Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City 
Clerk and acknowledged the execution of the foregoing Ordinance No. _________ as the duly 
authorized act of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana for the purposes stated 
therein.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 
 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
 

SEAL 



PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at  
  a.m./p.m. 
 
 
     _______________________________________ 
     Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
  

APPROVED by me this ____ day of _______________________, ______. 
 
 
     _________________________________________ 
     Rod Roberson, Mayor of the City of Elkhart 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk  
 

 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, on this _____ 
day of ________________, ______, personally appeared Rod Roberson in his capacity as Elkhart 
City Mayor and Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City Clerk and acknowledged the 
execution of the foregoing Ordinance No. ______ as the duly authorized act of the Mayor of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana for the purposes stated therein.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 
 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
EXECUTED AND DELIVERED in my 
presence: 
 
___________________________  
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 

SEAL 



 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, personally 
appeared Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City Clerk, who being personally known to 
me as the Elkhart City Clerk, and whose name is subscribed as a witness to the foregoing 
instrument, being duly sworn by me, deposes and says that the foregoing instrument was executed 
and delivered by Arvis Dawson, as President of the Elkhart Common Council and Rod Roberson, 
as Mayor of the City of Elkhart, in the above-named subscribing witness’s presence, and that the 
above-named subscribing witness is a disinterested person as defined by law.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
 

 

This document was prepared by John M. Espar, Attorney No. 20758-46, as Corporation Counsel 
for the City of Elkhart, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana 46516. I affirm, under the penalties 
for perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each Social Security number in this 
document, unless required by law.  John M. Espar
 

SEAL 























 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING TWO HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($250,000.00) AND APPROVING THE ACQUISITION OF LAND ADJACENT TO 
IDEAL BEACH BY THE ELKHART CITY PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD 

___________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart is informed that the private owner 

of certain land, situated adjacent to a park of the City of Elkhart, commonly known as Ideal Beach, 

and particularly described in Exhibit A, is willing to sell the property to the City of Elkhart for use 

as a public park; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart Administration has acquired two appraisals in connection 

with the acquisition of subject property and provided the appraisals to the Common Council; and  

WHEREAS, the Common Council has determined that the fair market value of the subject 

property, is Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00), based upon the average of the 

two (2) appraisals; and  

WHEREAS, the Administration is requesting an appropriation from the Parks and 

Recreation Fund, in the amount of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00) for the 

acquisition of land; and 

WHEREAS, there exist within the unappropriated funds of the Parks and Recreation Fund 

of the City of Elkhart, sufficient sums for the purpose herein; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana, that: 



Page 2 of 4 
 

Section 1.  The Common Council of the City of Elkhart approves the acquisition of the real 

property legally described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein, and authorizes 

the City of Elkhart Parks and Recreation Board to acquire the same. 

Section 2.  The total sum of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00) is 

appropriated from the Parks and Recreation Fund and allocated to the following account:    

  

Section 3.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of _________________, ______ 

, at 6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council 

will consider and determine the appropriation, and the taxpayers of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, 

shall have then and there the right to be heard. 

Section 4.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage and approval, 

according to law. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.]  

Account 
 

Description 
 

Amount 
2204-5-501-4410000  Land   $250,000.00 
      



Page 3 of 4 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Address: 

Vacant Lot County Road 113, Elkhart, Indiana, 46514 

 

Parcel Identification Number: 

20-02-23-426-001.000-026  
 

Legal Description: 

THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED REAL ESTATE BEING IN ELKHART COUNTY INDIANA, AND BEING 

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS, TO WIT:  
 
ALL THAT PART OF THE EAST HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION TWENTY-THREE (23), 
TOWNSHIP THIRTY-EIGHT (38) NORTH, RANGE FIVE (5) EAST, LYING NORTH OF A LINE WHICH IS 

PARALLEL WITH AND ONE HUNDRED FIFTY (150) FEET NORTHERLY, MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES, 
FROM THE CENTERLINE OF THE INDIANA EAST-WEST TOLL ROAD (A CENTERLINE SURVEY MAP OF 

WHICH IS ON FILE IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA.)  
 
RESERVING AN EASEMENT IN PERPETUITY ALONG THE WEST SIDE OF PROPERTY FOR HIGHWAY 

PURPOSES, AS RECORDED IN DEED RECORD 370, PAGE 829 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF 

ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, AND KNOWN AS PARCEL 80-J-1P.  
 
  



Page 4 of 4 
 

ORDAINED this ___ day of _______________, ______ . 
 
      __________________________________ 
      Arvis Dawson 
      President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ____ day of ________________, ______ , at    

  a.m./p.m. 

_________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

APPROVED by me this ____ day of ________________, ______ . 
 
      __________________________________ 
ATTEST:     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
 
__________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 





 



 



 

 

 



 



 



 



 



 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 



 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 



 



 

 

 
Estimates land values from sales of improved properties by deducting an estimated 
depreciated cost of the improvements from the total sales price to indicate a residual land 
value.  Least subjective when the contributing value of the improvements is small. 

 

 
A net operating income attributable to the land is capitalized at a market derived land 
capitalization rate to estimate the land value.  To utilize this approach, building value must 
be accurately estimated, the net operating income must be known, and both land and 
building capitalization rates must be available from market sales. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 
 
 



 

 
 

 
 

 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 

EExperience 

J. Carnine & Co. 

 
 
 

Education 
 

Licenses 



 

  Experience 
 

 J. Carnine & Co.

 
 
 

Education 

  

 
Licenses 



 



 



 



 































































 

 
 

1717 E. Lusher Avenue, Elkhart, IN 46516    •    (574) 293-5070    •    EECmail@coei.org    •     
www.elkhartindiana.org 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-55 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date November 18, 2024 

To City of Elkhart Common Council 

From Jeff Zavatsky, Elkhart Environmental Center, Director 

Re Fee Schedule Adoption for Elkhart Environmental Center 

The Elkhart Environmental Center is asking for formal approval of the 2025 fee schedule. 

See attached form for complete list of fees. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Jeffrey Zavatsky, Director 

Elkhart Environmental Center 

 



Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
W

oo
d 

D
uc

k 
H

ou
se

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

0-
$8

0
$5

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
55

-$
75

 p
er

 k
it

O
rio

le
 F

ee
de

r W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

5-
$1

0 
pe

r k
it

B
at

 H
ou

se
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$8
-$

13
$1

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
7-

$1
2 

pe
r k

it
B

ar
re

d 
O

w
l B

ox
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
0-

$8
0

$5
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

55
-$

75
 p

er
 k

it
B

lu
eb

ird
 B

ox
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
-$

11
$1

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r k

it
R

ai
n 

B
ar

re
l/B

ui
ld

-a
-B

ar
re

l W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

1-
$8

1
$1

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
50

-$
80

 p
er

 k
it

Sc
re

ec
h 

O
w

l B
ox

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

0-
$8

0
$5

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
55

-$
75

 p
er

 k
it

R
ec

yc
le

d 
H

um
m

in
gb

ird
 F

ee
de

r W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
16

$1
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

5-
$1

5 
pe

r k
it

H
ou

se
 W

re
n 

B
ox

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

5-
$1

0 
pe

r k
it

As
so

rt
ed

 W
ild

lif
e 

Bo
x/

Fe
ed

er
 W

or
ks

ho
ps

$5
-8

0
co

st
 p

er
 k

it 
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 m

at
er

ia
ls

*F
ee

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 b
y 

m
ar

ke
t p

ric
e 

of
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

su
pp

lie
s;

 su
bj

ec
t t

o 
ch

an
ge

Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
Ze

ro
 W

as
te

 W
or

ks
ho

ps
$3

-$
7

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

Ec
o-

D
ye

in
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

Le
af

 C
as

tin
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

Pa
ck

ag
e-

Fr
ee

 P
re

tz
el

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

D
IY

 L
ip

 B
al

m
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
W

or
m

 B
in

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$8

-$
13

$1
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

7-
$1

2 
pe

r k
it

B
ee

sw
ax

 W
ra

p 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
U

pc
yc

le
d 

C
at

 T
ow

er
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
-$

11
$1

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r k

it
As

so
rt

ed
 D

IY
/S

us
ta

in
ab

ili
ty

 W
or

ks
ho

ps
$3

-$
12

C
os

t p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

 o
r k

it 
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 p

ro
gr

am
**

Fe
e 

de
te

rm
in

ed
 b

y 
su

pp
ly

 c
os

ts
; s

ub
je

ct
 to

 c
ha

ng
e

C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

W
or

ks
ho

ps

E
lk

ha
rt

 E
nv

ir
on

m
en

ta
l C

en
te

r
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

ul
e

D
IY

 / 
Su

st
ai

na
bi

lit
y 

W
or

ks
ho

ps



Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
B

ird
s o

f P
re

y
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

G
ar

de
ni

ng
 fo

r W
ild

lif
e 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

M
on

ar
ch

 T
ag

gi
ng

 &
 M

ig
ra

tio
n

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
B

at
s o

f I
nd

ia
na

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
B

rin
gi

ng
 N

at
ur

e 
H

om
e

$5
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
N

at
ur

e 
Ph

ot
og

ra
ph

y 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

20
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
N

at
iv

e 
Pr

ai
rie

 P
ai

nt
in

g 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

20
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
A

n 
Ev

en
in

g 
w

ith
 O

w
ls

 / 
O

w
l P

ro
gr

am
s

$5
-$

12
$5

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
5-

$7
 p

er
 p

el
le

t
As

so
rt

ed
 G

ue
st

 S
pe

ak
er

 P
ro

gr
am

s
$5

-$
20

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

**
*F

ee
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 b

y 
pr

es
en

te
r c

os
ts

; s
ub

je
ct

 to
 c

ha
ng

e

Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
W

in
te

r B
ird

in
g

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Se

ed
 B

om
b 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

N
at

ur
e 

St
or

y 
H

ou
r

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
In

tro
 to

 N
at

ur
e 

ID
 A

pp
s

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
W

ild
flo

w
er

 H
ik

e
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

B
ird

in
g 

fo
r B

eg
in

ne
rs

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
M

ig
ra

to
ry

 B
ird

in
g 

H
ik

es
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

N
at

ur
e 

Pl
ay

 D
ay

s
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

H
ow

 N
at

iv
e 

Pl
an

ts
 B

rin
g 

Y
ou

r G
ar

de
n 

to
 L

ife
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

R
ai

n 
G

ar
de

n 
&

 R
ai

n 
B

ar
re

l W
or

ks
ho

p 
(In

fo
 S

es
si

on
s)

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
N

at
iv

e 
Pl

an
ts

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee

G
ue

st
 S

pe
ak

er
 P

ro
gr

am
s

E
nv

ir
on

m
en

ta
l E

du
ca

tio
n 

&
 In

te
rp

re
tiv

e 
Pr

og
ra

m
s



Ju
ni

or
 In

di
an

a 
M

as
te

r N
at

ur
al

is
t C

am
p

$1
00

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

Pr
iv

at
e 

Pr
og

ra
m

s
El

kh
ar

t C
om

m
un

ity
 S

ch
oo

ls
$3

co
st

 p
er

 k
id

 ($
50

 m
in

. c
ha

rg
e)

A
ll 

ot
he

r g
ro

up
s

$5
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
 ($

50
 m

in
. c

ha
rg

e)
M

or
e 

th
an

 2
 C

ha
pe

ro
ne

s p
er

 1
0 

ki
ds

$ 
3-

 $
5

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

EE
 &

 In
te

rp
re

tiv
e 

Pr
og

ra
m

 K
its

$5
0-

$1
00

co
st

 d
ep

en
di

ng
 o

n 
ki

t m
at

er
ia

ls
As

so
rt

ed
 E

E 
Pr

og
ra

m
s, 

H
ik

es
, e

tc
.

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee

**
* 

$5
0 

m
in

. c
ha

rg
e 

fo
r a

ll 
gr

ou
ps

, f
ee

s a
re

 w
ai

ve
d 

if 
co

m
m

un
ity

 se
rv

ic
e 

is
 a

pa
rt 

of
 p

ro
gr

am
(3

0 
m

in
ut

es
 m

in
 fo

r l
ar

ge
 g

ro
up

s, 
60

 m
in

ut
es

 fo
r s

m
al

l g
ro

up
s)

Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
Fa

ll 
C

ol
or

s
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

N
at

ur
al

 E
gg

 D
ye

in
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$3

-$
7

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

H
ol

id
ay

 H
oo

ra
h

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Ec

o-
V

al
en

tin
e's

 D
ay

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Ea

rth
 D

ay
 T

riv
ia

 N
ig

ht
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

A
m

er
ic

a 
R

ec
yc

le
s D

ay
$3

-$
7

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

R
ec

yc
le

d 
Fa

th
er

's 
D

ay
 C

ar
ds

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Pl

as
tic

 F
re

e 
Ju

ly
 P

ar
ty

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
G

re
en

 Y
ou

r H
al

lo
w

ee
n

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Fo

ra
gi

ng
/W

ild
 E

di
bl

es
 W

or
ks

ho
ps

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
G

ra
pe

 V
in

e 
&

 W
in

e
$5

-$
15

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

As
so

rt
ed

 P
ub

lic
 H

ol
id

ay
 P

ro
gr

am
s

$1
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Ea

st
er

 E
gg

 a
nd

 P
um

pk
in

 H
un

t
Fr

ee

H
ol

id
ay

 / 
Se

as
on

al
 P

ro
gr

am
s



Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
Po

lli
na

to
r P

ro
m

en
ad

e
$1

5-
$2

5 
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
En

vi
ro

Fe
st

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 fa

m
ily

H
au

nt
ed

 W
al

k 
Th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
W

oo
ds

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 v

eh
ic

le
Ec

lip
se

 V
ie

w
in

g 
Pa

rty
 

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 p

er
so

n
C

ity
 P

ap
er

 S
hr

ed
di

ng
/R

ec
yc

lin
g 

Ev
en

t
$2

0-
$4

0/
un

it
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 si

ze
 o

f s
hr

ed
di

ng
 m

at
er

ia
ls

Ex
hi

bi
to

r B
oo

th
 F

ee
$1

0-
50

de
pe

nd
in

g 
on

 sp
ac

e 
ne

ed
ed

V
en

do
r B

oo
th

 F
ee

$1
0-

50
Fo

od
 V

en
do

r F
ee

$2
0-

20
0

Su
pp

ly
 R

en
ta

l F
ee

: T
ab

le
$1

0-
20

Su
pp

ly
 R

en
ta

l F
ee

: E
le

ct
ric

ity
$3

0-
20

0
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 a

m
ps

, a
va

ila
bi

lit
y,

 e
tc

.

El
ec

tri
c 

U
sa

ge
 

$2
5.

00
pe

r d
ay

G
az

eb
o 

R
en

ta
l

$5
0.

00
pe

r d
ay

 / 
no

 e
le

ct
ric

ity
O

ut
do

or
 P

av
ili

on
 R

en
ta

l
$7

5.
00

pe
r d

ay
, h

as
 e

le
ct

ric
ity

EE
C

 M
ai

n 
C

ab
in

 R
en

ta
l

$1
00

pe
r s

es
si

on
 (8

am
-4

pm
, 5

pm
-1

1p
m

)
EE

C
 C

on
fe

re
nc

e 
R

oo
m

$1
00

pe
r s

es
si

on
 (8

am
-4

pm
, 5

pm
-1

1p
m

)
K

id
s C

ab
in

 R
en

ta
l

$5
0

pe
r s

es
si

on
 (8

am
-4

pm
, 5

pm
-1

1p
m

)
Se

cu
rit

y 
D

ep
os

it
$3

00
O

ut
do

or
 A

m
ph

ith
ea

te
r 

$5
0.

00
pe

r d
ay

G
ar

de
n 

Pl
ot

 R
en

ta
l

$0
.0

0 
- $

10
.0

0
pe

r s
ea

so
n.

  F
ee

 is
 d

ep
en

de
nt

 o
n 

an
y 

ci
ty

 w
at

er
 u

se

R
es

tro
om

s a
va

ila
bl

e 
fo

r G
az

eb
o,

 O
ut

do
or

 P
av

ili
on

, K
id

s C
ab

in
, a

nd
 A

m
ph

ith
ea

te
r o

nl
y 

du
rin

g 
bu

si
ne

ss
 h

ou
rs

 M
-F

, 8
-5

pm

M
er

ch
an

di
se

Sh
irt

s
$5

-$
25

.0
0

Co
st

 p
er

 It
em

Ha
ts

$5
-$

25
.0

0
Co

st
 p

er
 It

em
Dr

in
ki

ng
 C

on
ta

in
er

$1
0-

$3
0

Co
st

 p
er

 It
em

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s

Sp
ec

ia
l E

ve
nt

s



 
 Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-55 

 
 
 ORDINANCE NO. __________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, ESTABLISHING THE ELKHART ENVIRONMENTAL CENTER FUND 

AND THE ELKHART ENVIRONMENTAL CENTER FEE SCHEDULE 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart, Indiana, (“City”) owns, operates and maintains the 

Elkhart Environmental Center (“EEC”) to educate the public on the impact of human behaviors on 

the local and regional ecological system and environment; and 

 WHEREAS, on June 4, 2019, after twenty-five (25) of operations, the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart (the “Council”) approved the Elkhart Environmental Center Master Plan for 

the next twenty-five (25) years of operations; and  

 WHEREAS, the operations of the EEC, include numerous educational opportunities in the 

form of interactive field camps, school-based programing, workshops, guest speaker presentations, 

holiday and seasonal programing, as well as facilities rentals, merchandise and concessions sales; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the Administration has requested that the Council approve the Elkhart 

Environmental Center Fee Schedule, attached as Exhibit A, hereto, to establish the fees chargeable 

by the Elkhart Environmental Center, for current and foreseeable future programing of the Center; 

and  

 WHEREAS, the Administration has requested that the Council approve a mechanism for 

annual adjustments to the fee schedule, based upon an appropriate and readily available 

inflationary index, to wit: the Consumer Price Index, which includes activities, like entertainment 

and recreation, in its overall inflation calculation; and  



 2 

 WHEREAS, the Council has reviewed the Elkhart Environmental Center Fee Schedule, 

and has determined that the Fee Schedule should be approved and implemented; and  

 WHEREAS, the Elkhart Environmental Center Fund should be formally adopted for the 

operations and activities of the Center;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1.  Elkhart Environmental Center Fund is hereby established, and the City 

Controller is hereby directed to designate a fund number, and create such accounts as a necessary 

and proper for the operations and activities of the Elkhart Environmental Center. 

Section 2.  The Elkhart Environmental Center Fee Schedule, attached hereto as Exhibit A, 

is approved for the fees associated with the programing and operational activities of the Elkhart 

Environmental Center. 

Section 3.  The director of the Elkhart Environmental Center is authorized to request that 

the Board of Public Works and Utilities approve an adjustment of the Fee Schedule, annually, for 

appropriate increases to the Fee Schedule, not to exceed the rate of inflation, as reflected by 

increases in the Consumer Price Index. 

Section 4.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor, as provided by law. 

Section 5. The Common Council fixed published and conducted a public hearing on this 

ordinance on the ____ day of ________________, ______, at 6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, 

at which time the Council considered and determine this ordinance, and all taxpayers and interested 

persons were afforded the opportunity to appear and express their views, in advance of the adoption 

of this ordinance.  



 3 

 
SO ORDAINED this             day of                   ,     . 
 
 
          
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this   day of    ,  , at_________ 

a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 



Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
W

oo
d 

D
uc

k 
H

ou
se

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

0-
$8

0
$5

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
55

-$
75

 p
er

 k
it

O
rio

le
 F

ee
de

r W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

5-
$1

0 
pe

r k
it

B
at

 H
ou

se
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$8
-$

13
$1

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
7-

$1
2 

pe
r k

it
B

ar
re

d 
O

w
l B

ox
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
0-

$8
0

$5
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

55
-$

75
 p

er
 k

it
B

lu
eb

ird
 B

ox
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
-$

11
$1

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r k

it
R

ai
n 

B
ar

re
l/B

ui
ld

-a
-B

ar
re

l W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

1-
$8

1
$1

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
50

-$
80

 p
er

 k
it

Sc
re

ec
h 

O
w

l B
ox

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

0-
$8

0
$5

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
55

-$
75

 p
er

 k
it

R
ec

yc
le

d 
H

um
m

in
gb

ird
 F

ee
de

r W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
16

$1
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

5-
$1

5 
pe

r k
it

H
ou

se
 W

re
n 

B
ox

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$6

-$
11

$1
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

5-
$1

0 
pe

r k
it

As
so

rt
ed

 W
ild

lif
e 

Bo
x/

Fe
ed

er
 W

or
ks

ho
ps

$5
-8

0
co

st
 p

er
 k

it 
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 m

at
er

ia
ls

*F
ee

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 b
y 

m
ar

ke
t p

ric
e 

of
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

su
pp

lie
s;

 su
bj

ec
t t

o 
ch

an
ge

Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
Ze

ro
 W

as
te

 W
or

ks
ho

ps
$3

-$
7

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

Ec
o-

D
ye

in
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

Le
af

 C
as

tin
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

Pa
ck

ag
e-

Fr
ee

 P
re

tz
el

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

D
IY

 L
ip

 B
al

m
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
W

or
m

 B
in

 W
or

ks
ho

p
$8

-$
13

$1
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
; $

7-
$1

2 
pe

r k
it

B
ee

sw
ax

 W
ra

p 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
U

pc
yc

le
d 

C
at

 T
ow

er
 W

or
ks

ho
p

$6
-$

11
$1

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
5-

$1
0 

pe
r k

it
As

so
rt

ed
 D

IY
/S

us
ta

in
ab

ili
ty

 W
or

ks
ho

ps
$3

-$
12

C
os

t p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

 o
r k

it 
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 p

ro
gr

am
**

Fe
e 

de
te

rm
in

ed
 b

y 
su

pp
ly

 c
os

ts
; s

ub
je

ct
 to

 c
ha

ng
e

C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

W
or

ks
ho

ps

E
lk

ha
rt

 E
nv

ir
on

m
en

ta
l C

en
te

r
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

ul
e

D
IY

 / 
Su

st
ai

na
bi

lit
y 

W
or

ks
ho

ps

EX
H

IB
IT

 A

1



Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
B

ird
s o

f P
re

y
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

G
ar

de
ni

ng
 fo

r W
ild

lif
e 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$5

-$
10

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

M
on

ar
ch

 T
ag

gi
ng

 &
 M

ig
ra

tio
n

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
B

at
s o

f I
nd

ia
na

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
B

rin
gi

ng
 N

at
ur

e 
H

om
e

$5
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
N

at
ur

e 
Ph

ot
og

ra
ph

y 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

20
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
N

at
iv

e 
Pr

ai
rie

 P
ai

nt
in

g 
W

or
ks

ho
p

$5
-$

20
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
A

n 
Ev

en
in

g 
w

ith
 O

w
ls

 / 
O

w
l P

ro
gr

am
s

$5
-$

12
$5

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

; $
5-

$7
 p

er
 p

el
le

t
As

so
rt

ed
 G

ue
st

 S
pe

ak
er

 P
ro

gr
am

s
$5

-$
20

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

**
*F

ee
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 b

y 
pr

es
en

te
r c

os
ts

; s
ub

je
ct

 to
 c

ha
ng

e

Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
W

in
te

r B
ird

in
g

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Se

ed
 B

om
b 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

N
at

ur
e 

St
or

y 
H

ou
r

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
In

tro
 to

 N
at

ur
e 

ID
 A

pp
s

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
W

ild
flo

w
er

 H
ik

e
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

B
ird

in
g 

fo
r B

eg
in

ne
rs

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
M

ig
ra

to
ry

 B
ird

in
g 

H
ik

es
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

N
at

ur
e 

Pl
ay

 D
ay

s
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

H
ow

 N
at

iv
e 

Pl
an

ts
 B

rin
g 

Y
ou

r G
ar

de
n 

to
 L

ife
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

R
ai

n 
G

ar
de

n 
&

 R
ai

n 
B

ar
re

l W
or

ks
ho

p 
(In

fo
 S

es
si

on
s)

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
N

at
iv

e 
Pl

an
ts

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee

G
ue

st
 S

pe
ak

er
 P

ro
gr

am
s

E
nv

ir
on

m
en

ta
l E

du
ca

tio
n 

&
 In

te
rp

re
tiv

e 
Pr

og
ra

m
s

EX
H

IB
IT

 A

2



Ju
ni

or
 In

di
an

a 
M

as
te

r N
at

ur
al

is
t C

am
p

$1
00

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

Pr
iv

at
e 

Pr
og

ra
m

s
El

kh
ar

t C
om

m
un

ity
 S

ch
oo

ls
$3

co
st

 p
er

 k
id

 ($
50

 m
in

. c
ha

rg
e)

A
ll 

ot
he

r g
ro

up
s

$5
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
 ($

50
 m

in
. c

ha
rg

e)
M

or
e 

th
an

 2
 C

ha
pe

ro
ne

s p
er

 1
0 

ki
ds

$ 
3-

 $
5

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

EE
 &

 In
te

rp
re

tiv
e 

Pr
og

ra
m

 K
its

$5
0-

$1
00

co
st

 d
ep

en
di

ng
 o

n 
ki

t m
at

er
ia

ls
As

so
rt

ed
 E

E 
Pr

og
ra

m
s, 

H
ik

es
, e

tc
.

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee

**
* 

$5
0 

m
in

. c
ha

rg
e 

fo
r a

ll 
gr

ou
ps

, f
ee

s a
re

 w
ai

ve
d 

if 
co

m
m

un
ity

 se
rv

ic
e 

is
 a

pa
rt 

of
 p

ro
gr

am
(3

0 
m

in
ut

es
 m

in
 fo

r l
ar

ge
 g

ro
up

s, 
60

 m
in

ut
es

 fo
r s

m
al

l g
ro

up
s)

Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
Fa

ll 
C

ol
or

s
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

N
at

ur
al

 E
gg

 D
ye

in
g 

W
or

ks
ho

p
$3

-$
7

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

H
ol

id
ay

 H
oo

ra
h

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Ec

o-
V

al
en

tin
e's

 D
ay

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Ea

rth
 D

ay
 T

riv
ia

 N
ig

ht
$1

-$
3

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

A
m

er
ic

a 
R

ec
yc

le
s D

ay
$3

-$
7

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

R
ec

yc
le

d 
Fa

th
er

's 
D

ay
 C

ar
ds

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Pl

as
tic

 F
re

e 
Ju

ly
 P

ar
ty

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
G

re
en

 Y
ou

r H
al

lo
w

ee
n

$1
-$

3
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Fo

ra
gi

ng
/W

ild
 E

di
bl

es
 W

or
ks

ho
ps

$3
-$

7
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
G

ra
pe

 V
in

e 
&

 W
in

e
$5

-$
15

co
st

 p
er

 a
tte

nd
ee

As
so

rt
ed

 P
ub

lic
 H

ol
id

ay
 P

ro
gr

am
s

$1
-$

15
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
Ea

st
er

 E
gg

 a
nd

 P
um

pk
in

 H
un

t
Fr

ee

H
ol

id
ay

 / 
Se

as
on

al
 P

ro
gr

am
s

EX
H

IB
IT

 A

3



Pr
og

ra
m

Fe
e

Fe
e 

N
ot

es
Po

lli
na

to
r P

ro
m

en
ad

e
$1

5-
$2

5 
co

st
 p

er
 a

tte
nd

ee
En

vi
ro

Fe
st

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 fa

m
ily

H
au

nt
ed

 W
al

k 
Th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
W

oo
ds

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 v

eh
ic

le
Ec

lip
se

 V
ie

w
in

g 
Pa

rty
 

$5
-$

10
co

st
 p

er
 p

er
so

n
C

ity
 P

ap
er

 S
hr

ed
di

ng
/R

ec
yc

lin
g 

Ev
en

t
$2

0-
$4

0/
un

it
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 si

ze
 o

f s
hr

ed
di

ng
 m

at
er

ia
ls

Ex
hi

bi
to

r B
oo

th
 F

ee
$1

0-
50

de
pe

nd
in

g 
on

 sp
ac

e 
ne

ed
ed

V
en

do
r B

oo
th

 F
ee

$1
0-

50
Fo

od
 V

en
do

r F
ee

$2
0-

20
0

Su
pp

ly
 R

en
ta

l F
ee

: T
ab

le
$1

0-
20

Su
pp

ly
 R

en
ta

l F
ee

: E
le

ct
ric

ity
$3

0-
20

0
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 a

m
ps

, a
va

ila
bi

lit
y,

 e
tc

.

El
ec

tri
c 

U
sa

ge
 

$2
5.

00
pe

r d
ay

G
az

eb
o 

R
en

ta
l

$5
0.

00
pe

r d
ay

 / 
no

 e
le

ct
ric

ity
O

ut
do

or
 P

av
ili

on
 R

en
ta

l
$7

5.
00

pe
r d

ay
, h

as
 e

le
ct

ric
ity

EE
C

 M
ai

n 
C

ab
in

 R
en

ta
l

$1
00

pe
r s

es
si

on
 (8

am
-4

pm
, 5

pm
-1

1p
m

)
EE

C
 C

on
fe

re
nc

e 
R

oo
m

$1
00

pe
r s

es
si

on
 (8

am
-4

pm
, 5

pm
-1

1p
m

)
K

id
s C

ab
in

 R
en

ta
l

$5
0

pe
r s

es
si

on
 (8

am
-4

pm
, 5

pm
-1

1p
m

)
Se

cu
rit

y 
D

ep
os

it
$3

00
O

ut
do

or
 A

m
ph

ith
ea

te
r 

$5
0.

00
pe

r d
ay

G
ar

de
n 

Pl
ot

 R
en

ta
l

$0
.0

0 
- $

10
.0

0
pe

r s
ea

so
n.

  F
ee

 is
 d

ep
en

de
nt

 o
n 

an
y 

ci
ty

 w
at

er
 u

se

R
es

tro
om

s a
va

ila
bl

e 
fo

r G
az

eb
o,

 O
ut

do
or

 P
av

ili
on

, K
id

s C
ab

in
, a

nd
 A

m
ph

ith
ea

te
r o

nl
y 

du
rin

g 
bu

si
ne

ss
 h

ou
rs

 M
-F

, 8
-5

pm

M
er

ch
an

di
se

Sh
irt

s
$5

-$
25

.0
0

Co
st

 p
er

 It
em

Ha
ts

$5
-$

25
.0

0
Co

st
 p

er
 It

em
Dr

in
ki

ng
 C

on
ta

in
er

$1
0-

$3
0

Co
st

 p
er

 It
em

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s

Sp
ec

ia
l E

ve
nt

s

EX
H

IB
IT

 A

4



229 S 2ND ST, ELKHART, IN 46516 
T 574.294.5471 U ELKHARTINDIANA.ORG 

Memorandum 
To:   Arvis Dawson, President Elkhart City Council 
CC:   
From:  Jamie Arce, CPA, Controller 
Date:  November 19, 2024 
Re:  ARP Final Spending Plan 

As we approach the end of the year and the deadline for using ARP State and Local 
Fiscal Recovery Funds, the administration proposes allocating the remaining 
unappropriated and unobligated funds to the Lasalle, McKinley, and Benham area 
water and sewer project. 

This $14.5 million project was initially funded through a combination of ARP funds ($9.4 
million) and Capital Outlay funds ($5.1 million), as approved in Ordinances 5974 and 
5975. 

By utilizing the remaining ARP funds for this project, the City can comply with the 
program's end of year obligation rules and free up the previously allocated Capital 
Outlay funds for other future purposes. 



Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-56 
 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FOUR HUNDRED TEN THOUSAND AND 00\100 
DOLLARS ($410,000.00) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL 

RECOVERY FUND FOR THE LASALLE, MCKINLEY AND BENHAM AREA WATER 
AND SEWER PROJECT 

_______________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the United States Congress passed the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

and awarded to the City of Elkhart (“City”) funds which may be used for certain authorized uses 

specified under Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added by Section 9901 of the 

ARPA; 

WHEREAS, Section 603(c)(1) of the Social Security Act, as added          by Section 9901 of the 

American Rescue Plan Act   of 2021, designates the following authorized uses: 

(A) to respond to the public health emergency with respect to the Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (COVID–19) or its negative economic impacts, including assistance 
to households,  small businesses, and nonprofits, or aid to impacted industries such 
as tourism, travel, and hospitality; 
(B) to respond to workers performing essential work during the COVID–19 public 
health  emergency by providing premium pay to eligible workers of the metropolitan 
city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or county that are performing such 
essential work, or by providing grants to eligible employers that have eligible 
workers who perform essential work; 
(C) for the provision of government services to the extent of the reduction in 
revenue of such metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of local government, or 
county due to the COVID–19 public health emergency relative to revenues collected 
in the most recent full fiscal year of the metropolitan city, nonentitlement unit of 
local government, or county prior to the emergency; or 

(D) to make necessary investments in water, sewer, or broadband infrastructure. 
 

WHEREAS, the LaSalle, McKinley and Benham Area Water and Sewer Project 

(“Project”) is an ongoing and dedicated multiyear utilities infrastructure project of the City, to 

extend water service to area streets where none exists, eliminate some extensive shared private 



Page 2 of 3 

lines, eliminate lead services, loop the water mains, and remove mains where roads have been 

abandoned; and 

WHEREAS, although the Project previously had been partially funded with American 

Rescue Plan (ARP) funds and partially with Capital Outlay funds, the utilization of the remaining, 

unappropriated and unobligated ARP funds, toward the utility project will allow the City to comply 

with the program’s end-of-year obligation for use of ARP funds and allow the City the opportunity 

to redirect any unused Capital Outlay funds to other future purposes; and 

WHEREAS, the Administration requests that the Common Council of the City of Elkhart 

appropriate the sum of Four Hundred Ten Thousand Dollars ($410,000.00) from the ARP 

Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Infrastructure account; and  

WHEREAS, the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund contains funds sufficient 

and appropriate for the project;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1.  The amount of Four Hundred Ten Thousand Dollars ($410,000.00) be, and 

hereby is, appropriated from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund and assigned to 

the following account line:  

Account No. 2474-5-000-4430000   Infrastructure         $410,000.00 

 Section 2. The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, _____, at 

6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 

 Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law.  



Page 3 of 3 

SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 
      
 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this  day of    ,    

at_________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 





Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-59 

RESOLUTION NO. R-   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, AMEDING RESOLUTION R-45-22 TO EXTEND THE EXPIRATION DATE 
OF THE ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION AREA GRANTED TO MARINE REALTY, 

LLC DBA BENNINGTON MARINE (NORTH)  
______________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, on November 7, 2022, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart considered 

and adopted Resolution No. R-45-22, declaring a certain area to be an Economic Revitalization 

Area (ERA) under Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1, for the purpose of allowing a tax deduction under 

Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.4.5, to Marine Realty, LLC dba Bennington Marine (North), for anticipated 

investments in new manufacturing equipment (the “New Equipment”) in the ERA, as described in 

the STATEMENT OF BENEFITS (FORM SB-1/PERSONAL PROPERTY) and for the anticipated 

investments involving improvements to that certain real property in the ERA, (the “Project”), as 

described in the STATEMENT OF BENEFITS (FORM SB-1/REAL PROPERTY), submitted by Marine 

Realty, LLC dba Bennington Marine (North); and  

WHEREAS, under Resolution No. R-45-22, the Common Council set December 31, 2024, 

as the expiration date of the ERA, serving as the date by which Marine Realty, LLC dba 

Bennington (North) was required to complete the Project and install the New Equipment, as 

provided in the STATEMENTS OF BENEFITS (FORM SB-1/PP AND FORM SB-1 RP); and  

WHEREAS, on November 21, 2022, under Resolution No. R-50-22, the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart confirmed the designation of the ERA and under Resolution No. R-51-22, 

approved the MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENTS between the City of Elkhart and Marine Realty, LLC 

dba Bennington Marine (North) under which the tax deduction benefits would be allowed; and  

WHEREAS, under the MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENTS, Marine Realty, LLC dba 

Bennington Marine (North) committed to the installation of the New Equipment and the Project 



Page 2 of 3 

by December 31, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, in response to economic conditions caused by a general downturn in the 

marine industry, Marine Realty, LLC dba Bennington Marine (North) has been unable to start the 

real property Project or install the New Equipment, prior to December 31, 2024, expiration date of 

the ERA;  

WHEREAS, Marine Realty, LLC dba Bennington Marine (North) represents that an 

extension of the ERA to December 31, 2026, will afford the company sufficient additional time 

within which to complete the investments promised on their STATEMENT OF BENEFITS (FORM SB-

1/PP AND FORM SB-1 RP), and otherwise comply with the corresponding Memoranda of 

Agreement.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1.  After considering the evidence presented this date, December 2, 2024, the 

Common Council hereby amends Resolution No. R-51-22 to extend the expiration date of the 

Economic Revitalization Area to December 31, 2026, and hereby approves the application of the 

extended date to the completion date of the investments cited on their STATEMENT OF BENEFITS

(FORM SB-1/PP AND FORM SB-1 RP), Memorandum of Agreement – Personal Property, and 

Memorandum of Agreement – Real Property, respectively. 

Section 2.  The Common Council’s Administrative Assistant shall immediately mail a 

certified copy of this Resolution to Marine Realty, LLC dba Bennington Marine (North), the 

Elkhart County Auditor, and the Elkhart County Assessor. 

Section 3.  This Resolution shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor. 



Page 3 of 3 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ____ day of ___________, _______. 

____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 
President of the Common Council 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at 

________ a.m./p.m. 

_____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, _______. 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 





















229 S 2ND ST, ELKHART, IN 46516 
T 574.294.5471 U ELKHARTINDIANA.ORG 

Memorandum 
To:   Arvis Dawson, President, Elkhart City Council 
From:  Jamie Arce, CPA, Controller 
Date:  November 19, 2024 
Regarding: State Board of Accounts Bank Reconciliation Adjustment 

I am writing to request your authorization to work with the Indiana State Board 
of Accounts (SBOA) to correct an ongoing bank reconciliation error. This error 
has persisted in some fashion since 2003 and resulted in the City underreporting 
City’s cash balance.   

As part of the exit conference for the 2023 audit the SBOA recommended that 
the City request permission to adjust the balance to the correct amount.  Once 
approved by the SBOA this solution requires the City Controller to take specific 
actions to adjust the City’s financial records to agree with the reported bank 
balance. 

By authorizing the City Controller to work with the SBOA, we can ensure that the 
error is corrected and future reporting issues are no longer an area of concern.  

Thank you for your attention to this matter. Please let me know if you have any 
questions. 



Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-60 
 

RESOLUTION NO. R-  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ELKHART, INDIANA, AUTHORIZING THE CITY CONTROLLER TO 

COLLABORATE WITH THE INDIANA STATE BOARD OF ACCOUNTS 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF RECONCILING THE CITY’S BANK AND 

INTERNAL CASH ACCOUNTS 
 
 
 

WHEREAS, during the 2023 exit conference with the State Board of Accounts (SBOA), 

the SBOA recommended that the City Controller collaborate with the SBOA, to formulate 

appropriate entries for the City’s financial records, to correct a reconciliation error which has been 

ongoing and persisting since approximately 2003; and  

WHEREAS, the reconciliation error has created a disparity in the cash balance appearing 

in the City’s financial records for the City’s cash account, and the financial records of the City’s 

bank, which reflects a larger cash balance on deposit with the bank, and the correct cash balance 

of funds on deposit with the bank; and  

WHEREAS, the SBOA has recommended that the City Controller request the consent of 

the Common Council, as the fiscal body of the City, to authorize the Controller to collaborate with 

the SBOA, to devise a solution to correct the disparity and reconcile the City’s account to that of 

the bank;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. The Common Council of the City of Elkhart hereby authorizes the City 

Controller to work with the Indiana State Board of Accounts to define one or more appropriate 

corrective measures to reconcile the records of the City’s cash account with the records of the 



City’s bank. 

Section 2. The City Controller of the City of Elkhart is hereby authorized to 

implement the solution devised by the City Controller and the State Board of Accounts, to adjust 

the balance of the cash account and reconcile the same, to the records of the City’s bank. 

Section 3. This Resolution shall be in effect from and after its passage by the 

Common Council and approval by the Mayor according to law. 

RESOLVED this _____ day of __________________, ______. 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
      Arvis Dawson 

President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at  

  a.m./p.m. 

      ______________________________________ 
      Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
  APPROVED by me this _____ day of ____________________, ______. 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
      Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



Proposed Resolution 24-R-61 P

DATE: December 2, 2024 
TO: Elkhart Common Council Members 
FROM: Mike Huber, Director of Development Services 
RE: Tax Phase-in Application for Voyant Beauty 

Background 
Voyant Beauty’s Elkhart West location is a multi-faceted facility that offers aerosol blend configurations 
and specialty viscous liquids for large customers. They work with other plants and development labs to 
meet customer needs across hair, body, face, sun, and natural formulations. Voyant’s Elkhart West 
location is located at 1919 Superior St.  

Private Investment 
Voyant plans to invest $3,100,000 in personal property equipment. This is projected to create 48 new 
positions, with an average annual salary of $58,796. The projected tax revenue from the proposed project 
is $205,716. The projected tax savings is $119,784.  

The proposed project will be phased in over five years. The table below highlights the planned personal 
property investments. The subsequent table highlights the projected phasing of new jobs.  

Calendar Year 2025 2026 Total 
Land Acquisition 
New building construction 
Existing building improvements
Manufacturing equipment $3,100,000 $3,100,000 
Research and Development equipment 
Logistics Distribution equipment 
Information Technology equipment 
On-site rail infrastructure 
On-site fiber infrastructure 
Grand total $3,100,000 $3,100,000 

Calendar Year 2025 2026 2027 Total 
Management 
Professional/Technical 5 5 5 15 
Sales 
Office/Administrative Support 
Production Supervision 1 1 1 3 
Production 7 7 7 21 
Maintenance 1 1 1 3 
Other 2 2 2 6 
Total 16 16 16 48 

Recommendation 
Our staff, with support from the EDC, is recommending a five-year personal property tax phase-in. Per the 
EDC’s Project Impact Estate sheet, the projected tax revenue from the proposed project is $205,716. The 
projected tax savings is $119,784. 

Rod Roberson 
 Mayor 

Michael Huber 
 Director of Development Services 

Development Services 
Community Development 

Economic Development 
Planning Services 

Redevelopment 
229 S. Second St. 

Elkhart, IN 46516 



Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-61 

 
Page 1 of 5 

RESOLUTION NO. R_______ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC 

REVITALIZATION AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN 
BENEFITS TO ACCRA-PAC, INC. DBA VOYANT BEAUTY \ NM VYT, LLC 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1 (the “Act”) authorizes the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana (“Common Council”) to designate an area within the territorial boundaries 
of the City of Elkhart, Indiana as an economic revitalization area, as that term is defined in Section 
1 of the Act, for the purpose of allowing certain qualified businesses the right to receive deductions 
from the assessed value of improvements made to real property and personal property located in 
the economic revitalization area; and 

WHEREAS, Accra-Pac, Inc. dba Voyant Beauty \ NM VYT, LLC, (hereinafter the 
“Applicant\Property Owner”) filed an application with the City of Elkhart, requesting that the real 
estate described in Exhibit A attached to this Resolution (the “Area”) be designated as an economic 
revitalization area by the Common Council for the purpose of allowing a deduction from the 
assessed value of the manufacturing equipment to be installed for three compounding tanks with 
agitation to be used in the production of liquids (the “New Equipment”); and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant\Property Owner filed with the City a Statement of Benefits 
Form (SB-1/Personal Property) for the New Equipment (hereinafter the “Statement of Benefits”); 
and 

WHEREAS, prior to the installation of the New Equipment, the Area had become 
undesirable for, or impossible of, normal development and occupancy because of a lack of 
development, cessation of growth, deterioration of improvements or character of occupancy, age, 
obsolescence, substandard buildings, or other factors which have impaired values and prevented 
normal development and use of the property; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council has caused to be prepared maps and plats showing the 
boundaries of the Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council has studied the Area and considered the 
Applicant\Property Owner’s request to designate the area as an economic revitalization area and 
the Statement of Benefits. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, as follows: 

1. After considering the evidence presented at the public meeting conducted this date, 
the Common Council hereby finds and determines that: 

A. the estimate of the cost of the New Equipment is reasonable for equipment 
of this type in this Area; 



 
Page 2 of 5 

B. the estimate of the number of individuals who will be employed or whose 
employment will be retained in the Area can reasonably be expected to result from the 
installation of the New Equipment; 

C. the estimate of the annual salaries of those individuals who will be 
employed or whose employment will be retained in the Area can reasonably be expected 
to result from the installation of the New Equipment; 

D. the other benefits about which information was requested are benefits that 
can reasonably be expected to result from the installation of the New Equipment; and 

E. the totality of benefits is sufficient to justify declaring the Area as an 
economic revitalization area and allowing deductions in accordance with the Act. 

2. The Area is hereby designated an economic revitalization area under Section 2.5 of 
the Act (the “ERA”) and subject to the requirements of the Act for the purpose of allowing a 
deduction from the assessed value of the New Equipment.  

3. The Administrative Assistant of the Common Council is hereby authorized and 
directed to make all filings necessary or desirable with the Elkhart County Assessor, to publish all 
notices required by the Act, and to take all other necessary actions to carry out the purposes and 
intent of this Resolution and to establish and designate the Area as an economic revitalization area. 

4. The Administrative Assistant of the Common Council is further authorized and 
directed to file this Declaratory Resolution, together with any supporting information, with each 
of the officers of each taxing unit that has authority to levy property taxes in the Area, as provided 
in the Act. 

5. This Declaratory Resolution shall be submitted to the public for hearing and 
remonstrance as provided by the Act; and said public hearing shall be convened by the Common 
Council December 16, 2024, at 6:00 p.m., at the City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana 
46516. 

6. In accordance with Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council hereby 
determines that a deduction for the installation of the New Equipment under Section 4.5 of the Act 
shall be allowed for a period of five (5) years. The amount of the deduction for each eligible year 
shall be according to the following deduction schedule: 

 
7. The deduction schedule shall commence in the first year that the New Equipment 



 
Page 3 of 5 

is installed in the Area designated as an ERA. The ERA shall expire on the last year of the 
applicable deduction schedule for the New Equipment, unless terminated sooner by action of the 
Common Council under the Act. 

8. The Common Council, with the consent of property owner, adopts and incorporates 
by reference into this Resolution the provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-14 and imposes a fee 
on the property owner equal to 15% of the tax savings as determined under Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1-14(c). 

9. The Common Council hereby adopts and incorporates by reference the provisions 
of Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-12, providing that if the owner of the property or tenant of the property, 
ceases operations at the facility for which the deduction was granted, and the designating body 
finds that the Applicant/Property obtained the deduction by intentionally providing false 
information concerning the Applicant and/or property owner's plans to continue operations at the 
facility, the Applicant\Property Owner shall pay the amount determined by the County Auditor 
pursuant to law, after an appeal, if any. 

10. The Common Council’s designation of the Area as an economic revitalization area 
shall terminate after a public hearing held by the Common Council in accordance with the Act if 
the Applicant\Property Owner: 

A. fails to substantially install the proposed New Equipment, and create and 
maintain the level of benefits described in the Statement of Benefits; 

B. fails to enter into a written agreement with the City of Elkhart confirming 
the Applicant\Owner’s commitment to comply with the project description, job creation 
and retention (and associated wage rates and salaries) figures contained in the Statement 
of Benefits; or 

C. fails to continue operations at the facility for which the deduction was 
granted; or 

D. intentionally provides false information to the designating body concerning 
the Applicant’s or property owner’s plans to continue operations at the facility. 

11. The provisions of this Declaratory Resolution shall be subject in all respects to the 
Act and any amendments thereto. 

12. This Declaratory Resolution shall take effect upon its adoption. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.]  



 
Page 4 of 5 

Exhibit A 
 

Description of Real Property 
 

The real property comprising the Economic Revitalization Area is described as follows: 
 
Property Address: 1919 Superior Street, Elkhart IN 46516 
 
Parcel Number(s): 20-06-03-301-004.000-012 

         20-06-03-301-005.000-012      

 
Legal Description: 
 
The Land referred to herein below is situated in the County of Elkhart, State of Indiana, and is 
described as follows: 
 
A PART OF THE WEST ONE-HALF (W 1/2) OF SECTION THREE (3), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-
SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FIVE (5) EAST, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SUPERIOR STREET AND SIMPSON 
AVENUE AS SAME ARE PLATTED IN THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA; THENCE 
EASTWARDLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SUPERIOR STREET, ONE THOUSAND 
NINE HUNDRED THIHTY (1930) FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SUPERIOR 
STREET AND RIVERVIEW AVENUE; THENCE SOUTHWARDLY ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID RIVERVIEW AVENUE, SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY AND EIGHTY- FIVE 
HUNDREDTHS (750.85) FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE NEW 
YORK CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY'S RIGHT-OF WAY; THENCE WESTWARDLY 
ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY ONE THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED 
EIGHTY-SIX AND ONE TENTH (1,986.1) FEET TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE EAST LINE 
OF SIMPSON AVENUE; THENCE NORTHWARDLY ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID 
SIMPSON AVENUE, ONE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED SIXTEEN AND FIVE TENTHS 
(1,216.5) FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 
  



 
Page 5 of 5 

 RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at  
 
________ a.m./p.m. 

_____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 

 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, _______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)   § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

I, Debra D. Barrett, Clerk of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, do hereby certify the above is a 
full, true and complete copy of Resolution No. R-____, adopted by the Common Council on the    
  day of   , _____ , by a vote of _______ AYES and _______ NAYS, and was 
approved and signed by the Mayor on the ______ day of    , ______ , and now 
remains on file and on record in my office. 

 
WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, this ____ day of  

  , ______ . 
 

__________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 


























































































































